CIOLANU MONASTERY

One of the oldest abodes of Romanian spirituality and culture is to be found in the district of Buzău, some 34 kms to the west of its residence. It is Ciolanu Monastery. It is placed in the Tisău Commune in a beautiful meadow surrounded by woods. Its name comes after the hill on which it was set up.

One can reach this place by coming from Buzău either through Verneşti along Nişcov and Haleş Valleys, or along Buzău Vallery on the road to Braşov up to the Ciuta- Fântâna lui Mihai, and from there 6 kms to the left.

The monastery is inhabited by monks. It furthers in time the tradition of some old monastic settlements in our country which go back in time to the 4tehnologie Century A.D.,namely, the cavemonastic settlements in the Buzău Mountains at Bozioru, where one can still see the cryptic symbols of the Early Christendom.

In addition to these we recall the Martyrical Act of St. Savva’s drowned in the Buzău River on 12th April 372.

It was built by Dumitru and Maria Ciolan in 1568-1577. They put up a small church dedicated to St. George. This church was enlarged in 1855-1857, when the building underwent structural changes. The painting in the church was done by Monk Elisei and it was restored by Painter G. Georgescu during the 19th Century.

In 1828 a monumental church was built dedicated to the Holy Apostle Peter and Paul. It is the first church of this kind around Buzău. The painting of the church was done by N. Teodorescu, head of the Painting School in the Diocese of Buzău.

The church was damaged by the fire in 1855. Its roof and three spires were redone, and it was painted by the same painter in 1862.

Another painting was done on top of the old one in 1937 by Painter N. Solescu. The iconostasis was left with its original painting. Following the damages by the 1977 earthquake the building was reinforced and consolidated in  1983-1984, and the painting was restored in 1984 by a group of painters headed by Octavian Teodorescu and under the supervision of Painter Ioan Neagoe from Bucharest, who is a specialist in the art of restoring the church painting.

One can see on the iconostasis three icons by the classic Romanian painter Gh. Tattarescu in 1886, namely Our Lord, Our Lady and St. John the Baptist. This painter was a pupil at the Painters’ School in Buzău, headed by his uncle N. Teodorescu. The Diocese of Buzău gave him a scholarship to study painting in Rome.

The Cetăţuia Church, built on the top of the hill bearing the same name, raises up against the background of the Carpathian Mountains some 2 kms away to the north-west. It can be reached on a footpath through the forest or along the mud road. It was built in local stone by Monk Josif. Its painting was done in 1869 by Costache Dumitrescu at the expense of King Charles I and was redone in 1898 by another monk from the monastery.

The larger church of the old Nifon Skete is some 6 kms away to the north-west side of the monastery. It was built in 1842 by N. Pâcleanu. He also put up the church in the cemetry of the same skete in 1860.

In 1625, Ciolanu Monastery and its income was gifted to the Dousikon Monastery in Greece. The monastery was dried out of all its resources and as a result it was abandoned by the monks for about five or six decades, until 1767 when it was repopulated with monks from Poiana Mărului Skete, under the rule of the famous abbot Vasile.

He imposed a deep spiritual life by introducing the contemplative life (the Jesus Prayer), fasting and manual labour. The monks were required to perform different jobs and handicrafts, as one can see from the exibits in the Museum of the monastery.

Among the practical jobs performed by the monks we recall the wood carving. In 1868 the monks carved in wood the letters for the Printing Press in Buzău, and wrought crosses and icones down to present day.

The painting was another interest. Monk Elisei painted the refectory in 1858 and some churches around Răteşti Monastery.

Later on, another painter, Archimandrite Georgescu-Obrocea repainted the Cetăţuia Church inside the monastery in 1899, and several other churches and icons.

Other monks were busy copying manuscripts with Byzantine music. Some of them were also composers, like Archimandrite Serafim and Protosingelos Varlaam.

Due to its authentic Orthodox spirituality, the monastery attracted many people eager to carry a higher religious life. This explains why many monks became novices and strove the perfection here. Some of them became outstanding hierarchs of the Romanian Orthodox Church, like Metropolitan Firmilian of Oltenia (†1972), who was a novice in 1917-1919, and others.

Furthermore, we recall four fighters in the 1848 Revolution who were monks of this monastery: Protosingelos Varlaam, who acted as an extraordinary Commissioner; Archimandrite Iosafat Snagoveanul, a member in the Commission for the liberation of the Gypsies from slavery; Hierodeacon Ipatie Petrescu, director of the Theological Seminary in Buzău, and monk Dimitrie, who spoke several languages.

Monk Ghelasie, who studied in Petersburg, was director of the Seminary and became deputy archimandrite of the throne of the Diocese of Buzău.

The monks usually came from the rural area, and they were not severed from the social and political realities of the country. They were always involved in different events of national importance, like the conquest of the 1877 state independence.

They helped with money and clothing and 16 monks helped with the wounded in hospitals and one of them petitioned to be appointed confessor to a regiment.

The Nifon Skete was placed under the jurisdiction of Ciolanu Monastery in 1861. Bishop Dionisie Romano restored in 1864 its mineral baths, put up new buildings. Among the people who worked here we recall an Italian, Vaerimus Marini of Laurento who died here in 1893, as anyone can see from his tomb stone which is found on the left side of the entrance in the cemetry.

It was here that in 1861 the same outstanding Bishop, Dionisie Romano, set up a school. In 1863 he put up a special building in stone which still exists.

As this monastery was a scholarly centre due to the monks who lived here, it also houses a library which has among other books 56 theological manuscripts and 21 manuscripts with church music.

The library has over 1,500 volumes in Slavonic, Greek, Latin, French, German, Russian, etc. It also preserves many old Romanian books printed in different centres throughout the country.

There is here a special preoccupation to preserve the national patrimony and as a result a Collection of old religious art was set up in the monastery. The collection is preserved in the right wing of the monastery.

One can see here exhibits revealing the activity of  the monks of the monastery. There is  also a collection of icons painted by the pupils of the Buzău  School of Painting, among them we recall Painter G. Tattarescu, who signed a very interesting religious work done in oil on canvass, from his Buzău period, dated 1844. Greek and even Arabic icons are also exhibited here, proving relations with the Orthodox world outside the boundaries of our country.

The collection  comprises  books printed at Buzău or in other parts of the country.Embroideries and different cultic vessels in sliver make up the whole collection.

This collection of Church art is visited by tourists from all continents. They were pleasantly impressed as it comprises “so many works of art and so many beauties”, which made someone declare “What richness! How many beautiful things are exhibited here”; and in the view of an Italian “they are charming works of art”.

A Swiss was “very impresed by the beauty and value of the works exhibited”, because “the paintings are so beautifull that I’d admire them all day long” noted a Finn. This reality determined an American from Florida to declare that it is “a unique and holy corner of Louvre.”

The Ambassador of Peru to Austria and his wife were “simply astonished by the treasures this monastery preserves, and they are a pride for your faith and for the Romanian nation”.

Due to its importance a Frenchman suggested that “this corner of recollection deserves to be known by the visitors from all the corners of the earth… it should be maintained and preserved as a witness to the Romanian faith and traditions.”

The setting up of this collection of old religious, art another Frenchman said, reflects the effort “of the country to preserve the national Romanian historical heritage”, because here, according to another visitor who wrote in Spanish, “it is a part of the Romanian Culture”.

In 1970, a Carving Camp in open air was set up near the monastery: Măgura. Its name comes from the stone which is brought from the village with the same name. This village is placed on the other side of the Ciolanu Hill.

For about 16 years (1970-1985), some sixteen artists from the young generation worked here during the summer, for about a month each time, to create the works of art exhibited in open air in the meadows that are the property of the monastery. There are about 256 works of art. We recall here the carvings representing Burebista, “one of the most important leader of the Geto-Dacians” –our ancestores; King Michael the Brave – who unified the Romanian Provinces for the first time in 1600, and the faithful King Constantin Brâncoveanu, who sacrificed his life in Constantinopole in 1714 for our ancestral faith and homeland.

This is the first open air stone carving camp in our country. A museum in the open nature with works created on the place where they were carved. This gives them an original character, because in as far as we know this is the only open air museum where the exhibits are created on the spot.

This museum is a natural result of a long tradition of stone carving in the district of Buzău on  both sides of the Istriţa and Ciolanu Hills.

On the Istriţa Hill this activity goes back in time to the late Bronze period as it is testified by the stone tombs discovered at Năieni in 1978 – 1979. Hence the name of Năieni Culture.

It was also from Istriţa that the stone for the Pietroasele Castrum was taken. This was where the Golden Brooding Hen treasure was discovered.

During the Brîncoveanu’s period, the stone for the tombs and portals was taken from the Ciolanu Hill. They were carved artistically here. Also, the father of the modern sculpture, C. Brîncuşi, carved at Ciuta the support for his famous work “The Player”, and Petru Stănescu’s bust, now in Dumbrava Cemetery in Buzău.

The old tradition of stone carving, also a peasant art, produced many works of art of which we recall the Manaf’s Cross –“a unique case of rural sculpture”; the Beautiful Cross –“a masterpiece of its kind”. They can be seen in the stone museum at Fîntîna Rece, on the Ciolanu – Măgura  Road.There are here crosses of different shapes from the 18th and many from the 19th Century. We can admire, in addition to the interesting inscriptions, marvellous floral and geometrical motifs proving the refined artistic feeling of our forefathers in these parts of country.

Therefore, the open air museum from Măgura is placed within this old tradition of stone carving, these carvings “go well within the context of the nature as some spontaneous natural accidents, even thougt each was placed by virtue of the most absurd hazard,the deliberate hazard”.

Formally, these carvings, according to a justified statement , “are to a great extent abstract. They are organized as spatial signs. Therefore they are not images, but image substitutes. Nevertheless, they create a simbolic icongraphy both by their mytological transparency of which people speak so often, and by a certain tendency for typological expression, that canonizes the shapes. Hence their unity which defies the differences in visual expression”.

Many of the stones placed in the meadows of the Ciolanu Monastery have a simbolic value. Some of them represent religious themes, like: “The Return of the (Prodigal) Son”; “Cross Shapes”,”The Sacrifice”, etc.Maybe  that is why the author of a carving which we mentionted here, Tiron Napoleon, underlined:”We artists do not attempt to imitate nature , because it is beautiful alive as it is-we try to go beyond the natural , searching for a symbol of the idea which is nothing but the idea of the spiritual beauty”. Also , Aurel Hobiţa, author of a work called “the Unforseeable”, done in 1972, asserted: “I will make a work in the shape of the Cross because for me it represents the whole universe. The horisontal arm symbolizes matter, and the vertical symbolizes the spiritual, the ideal for which men strive and struggle”.

As any one may gather from our concise presentation some of these works have a historical-patriotic importance, like those representing the past leaders of our country, while some have a religious significance. They all suggest the need felt for a moral life deeply rooted in our past, present and future realities and to prepare ourselves for perfection, which should be the ideal for each man and each cultural or Spiritual act. As a talented and fertile Romanian writer from our times was rightly saying: “…to limit oneself to a cultural level it would mean to be a an incomplete man. Spiritualy is beyond and above culture. It is important for an act of culture to be turned into a spiritual act, namely, an act of life”. (Valeriu Anania)

Towards the end of this summary it is not devoid of importance to underline that the Romanian Orthodox Church has always contributed towards achieving and maintaining the unity of our nation. It has defended and preserved our ancestral land and created works of art which are now part  and parcel of the spiritual heritage of our nation. Nowdays it also supports through its representatives and participates with patriotic pride and enthusiasm in those actions aiming at the common welfare, also creating works of art for our times. Thus, on a local level, it has helped towards the creation of these important sculptures. The diocese of Buzău allowed the use of the grounds of the monastery for this exibition and it also offered accomodations for the artists. The exhibition points out the creative spirit of our people, and speaks about the conditions created by the Leadership of our country enabling the young talents to assert themselves, and finally, as a foreign academician who visited the monastery said, this act of Romanian culture proves “the close connection between art and Church”.

The work ends with a chapter about the cemeteries around the churches and informs us that in addition to the monks buried here there were also some outstanding people from the history of our Church and people. Thus, the great bishops of Buzău Filotei (1850-1860) and Dionisie Romano (1865-1873) were buried in the cemetery around Sf. Gheorghe Church. Later on they were taken and buried near the Cathedral in Buzău. The tombof the famous painter Nicolae Teodorescu (†1880) is found also in the graveyard at Ciolanu Monastery.

The graves of writer Atanasie N. Pîcleanu (†1856) from Braşov and of the Italian physician from Laureto, Vaerinus Marini (†1896) are to be found in the cemetery of Nifon Skete.

